STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

07-26-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Appeal No. 2019 AP 836 CR

EDWARD L. BODY, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

APPEALED FROM
KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,
CASE NO. 17 CM 1162
THE HON. BRUCE E. SCHROEDER, PRESIDING

KAY & KAY LAW FIRM BY: TIMOTHY T. KAY STATE BAR NO. 1019396 COUNSEL FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

675 North Brookfield Road Brookfield, WI 53045 (262) 784-7110

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Appeal No. 2019 AP 836 CR

EDWARD L. BODY, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING BODY'S ASSERTION THAT HIS SENTENCE WAS BASED ON UPON IMPROPER FACTORS?

The Trial Court answered: "No."

Appellant argues: "Yes."

Respondent would argue: "No."

II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING BODY'S ASSERTION THAT HIS SENTENCE WAS UNDULY HARSH?

The Trial Court answered: "No."

Appellant argues: "Yes."

Respondent would argue: "No."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Defendant-Appellant, EDWARD L. BODY, SR., welcomes oral argument if the Court believes it is necessary; however, the issues in this appeal are clear and may be fully addressed through briefs of the parties.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-Appellant, EDWARD L. BODY, SR., requests publication of this decision for the reason that the factual situation will further clarify the law related to sentence modification.

STATEMENT ON THE CASE

This appeal stems from the trial court's Decision and Order Denying of Motion for Post-conviction Relief, [R. 45. 4.] and from the Judgment of Conviction filed in this matter dated August 30, 2018 [R. 18]. For purposes of this appeal, Defendant-Appellant, EDWARD L. BODY, SR., will hereinafter be referred to as "Body" and the State of Wisconsin will hereinafter be referred to as "State."

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. EMILY MAYS COMPLAINTS.

The oddities of this case began with the handling of Emily Mays' complaints in the file. For some reason, the complaints that call in to question Ms. Mays' credibility were saved together in a file called "notes," almost as if to hide them. On September 10, 2007, Ms. Emily Mays was charged with receiving stolen property. [R. 26-1]. Ms. Mays stated that she was given two purses by someone else the morning of September 10, 2007. [R.26-2]. Ms. Mays told the police that she knew the purses were stolen, but did not call the police. [R. 26-2].

On January 6, 2009, Ms. Mays was charged with bail jumping as a repeater. [R. 28-1]. When approached by the police, the officer observed the odor of intoxicants coming from Ms. Mays. [R. 28-1]. When asked if Ms. Mays had consumed alcohol, she stated she had not, rather that she consumed a great deal of mouthwash because she is very concerned about oral hygiene. [R. 28-1]. After being asked two more times, Ms. Mays stated that she consumed four beers. [R. 28-1]. Ms. Mays later changed her story back to consuming mouthwash. [R. 28-1].

On April 25, 2016, Ms. Mays was charged with Disorderly Conduct, Domestic Abuse. [R. 32-1]. The police talked to Ms. Mays and noticed a strong odor of intoxicants

coming from her breath. [R. 32-2]. Ms. Mays stated that Gregory Spinks had engaged her in a verbal altercation and took a swing at her in a parking lot. [R. 32-2]. The officers reviewed surveillance video from the parking lot at the time of the incident. [R. 32-2]. The video showed Ms. Mays exiting a vehicle and punching Gregory Spinks in the back of the head. [R. 32-2]. Ms. Mays and Gregory Spinks begin to argue, but no swing or physical contact is made by Spinks towards Mays. [R. 32-2]. Ms. Mays then gets back into her vehicle and sprays some liquid out the window towards Gregory Spinks on the way out. [R. 32-2]. The police believed that liquid to be pepper spray. [R. 32-2].

On June 24, 2018, Ms. Mays was charged with resisting an officer and two counts of bail jumping. [R. 34-1]. The police approached Ms. Mays regarding a late night disruption involving Edward Body and herself. [R. 34-2]. Ms. Mays admitted to consuming a pint and a half of vodka that night. [R. 34-2]. Ms. Mays told her children that if they let the police take them away she would go "bat shit crazy." [R. 34-2]. Ms. Mays demanded to see her children and when told no, threw out contents of cabinets in a hospital. [R. 34-2]. While in this state, Ms. Mays told the police that Edward Body punched her several times in the face and she believed her jaw was broken. [R. 34-2].

II. THE INCIDENT.

On August 1, 2017, officers responded to a report of people being loud on the 1800 block of 62nd Street. [R. 2-2]. As officers arrived on scene, they noted a black male waving his arms, yelling, and pacing in the 2000 block of 62nd Street. [R. 2-2]. Officers noted that residents of the neighborhood were looking toward the yelling, trying to see what was happening. [R. 2-2]. As officers got closer to the male subject, they heard people tell the male subject to stop yelling. [R. 2-2]. The male subject, later identified as Edward L. Body Sr. (hereinafter "Body"), responded "I don't care. Fuck the police." [R. 2-2].

Officers approached Body and observed a female near him. [R. 2-2]. This woman turned out to be Emily Mays, the mother of Body's youngest child. [R. 2-2]. Ms. Mays explained to officers that Body was upset about issues they were having with their children and that it was these issues that they were what yelling about. [R. 2-2].

Officers then spoke with a neighbor who had asked Body and Ms. Mays to "take their drama elsewhere" because it was creating a disturbance and disrupting him and his neighbors. [R. 2-2]. Officers then took Body into custody for disorderly conduct (non-domestic). [R. 2-2]. While searching Body, officers discovered two corner-bags of marijuana on his person totaling 7.4 grams. [R. 2-2]. Body was arrested and charged with Disorderly Conduct as a Repeater and Possession of THC as a Repeater. [R. 2-1].

III. PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

On January 11, 2018, Body pled guilty to one count of Disorderly Conduct as a repeater. [R. 51-2]. Body was sentenced to a probation term of one year. [R. 51-12-13]. Body was subsequently revoked for consuming alcohol in violation of his conditions of bond. [R. 51-3]. Body was not charged with any crime stemming from this intoxication. [R. 51-3].

On August 21, 2018, the State and the Department of Corrections jointly recommended a 90-day period of incarceration at Body's sentencing after revocation hearing. [R. 51-2; R. 52-15-16]. The State recited Body's criminal history, which happened to include past domestic violence convictions. [R. 51-6]. At the close of sentencing arguments, the Court adjourned the hearing to personally investigate Body's criminal history further. [R. 52-8].

The Court explicitly stated on the record, "I want to take a look in-depth at what his history is in terms of violence with women particularly because I want to find out . . . if he has a history of domestic violence against women." [R. 52-7]. It is not clear how the inadmissible hearsay from the revocation packet was filed in this case, however, the revocation packet is what the Court reviewed before the August 30, 2018, hearing. [R. 53].

On August 30, 2018, the sentencing after revocation hearing reconvened. [R. 53]. During that proceeding, the Court

continually referred to *uncharged battery allegations* that were detailed in the revocation packet. [R. 53]. Despite these allegations never being charges, the Court treated them as a factual history. [R. 53]. When referring to these uncharged allegations, the Court noted that "[Body] seems to have interpersonal relationship problems with women." [R. 53-7]. Defense counsel objected and informed the Court that it is improper to consider uncharged allegations in the Court's sentencing criteria. [R. 53-7].

Despite this warning, the Court broached the topic again, asking Body outlandish questions including:

What do you think other men think of someone who slaps a woman around? What do you think I think right now?" [R. 53-10].

Defense counsel again objected and reminded the Court that the uncharged allegations noted in the revocation packet cannot be treated as a factual history or factor into the Court's sentence. [R. 53-13]. Despite numerous subsequent warnings from defense counsel, the Court continued to outrageously treat the uncharged allegations as a factual history, discussing these irrelevant, uncharged, and unsubstantiated allegations *on at least four separate occasions* during sentencing. [R. 53-10-22].

Similarly improper, the Court insisted that Body admit or deny whether he had struck Ms. Mays as alleged in the revocation packet. [R. 53-13-15]. Continuing with outlandish questions, the Court asked, "Is he saying he didn't punch her in the head and body with a closed fist? Is this what I'm hearing?" [R. 53-13]. Defense counsel objected, stating that the Court was attempting to compel a statement in violation of Body's right against self-incrimination. [R. 53-15]. "Your Honor can't ask him to make incriminating statements one way or another to violate his Fifth Amendment right." [R. 53-15].

Ultimately, the Court sentenced Body to one year of incarceration in the county jail, despite the 90-day joint recommendation by the State and the Department of Corrections. [R. 53-15]. The court's stated reasoning for this sentence was based on Body's "long involvement with the law" and "persistent involvement with aggressive behavior with women." [R. 53-16]. Continuing to rely on uncharged and unsubstantiated claims after Body did eventually say that he did not do anything to Ms. Mays, the court responded by saying that "you (Body) chose not to." [R. 53-22]. Finally, Mr. Body's attorney stated that it was counsel's decision not to respond, to which the court responded by having Body removed from the courtroom. [R. 53-22-23]. Not only did the Court stick with its one year sentence, but offered Body a signature bond to let him out. [R. 53-19]. Because the Court knew Body could not leave prison because of another case, the Court essentially just extended the amount of time he had to spend in prison beyond a year. [R. 18]. Body moved the court for a re-sentencing hearing, or in the alternative, a sentence modification. [R. 43].

The court denied Body's motion citing that it was not improper to use the uncharged and unsubstantiated charges found in the revocation packet. [R. 45-2].

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The court reviews a motion for sentence modification by "determining whether the sentencing court erroneously exercised its discretion in sentencing the defendant." *State v. Noll*, 2002 WI App 273, ¶ 4, 258 Wis. 2d 573, 653 N.W.2d 895 (citing *Ocanas v. State*, 70 Wis.2d 179, 185, 233 N.W.2d 457 (1975)). It follows that a review of a circuit court's decision to dismiss a motion for sentence modification is reviewed under the same standard. *Id.* However, a case that involves the application of Wis. Stat. § 973.19 to undisputed facts, presents a question of law reviewed without deference to the trial court. *Id.* (citing *State v. Wilke*, 152 Wis.2d 243, 247, 448 N.W.2d 13 (Ct.App.1989).

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXERCISED ITS SENTENCING DISCRETION WHEN IT RELIED ON IMPROPER FACTORS AT SENTENCING.

When a circuit court "actually relies on clearly irrelevant or improper factors," it erroneously exercises its sentencing discretion." *State v. Harris*, 2010 WI 79, ¶ 66, 326 Wis.2d 685 (2010). A defendant must prove by clear and convincing

evidence that the sentencing court actually relied on improper factors. *State v. Alexander*, 2015 WI 6, ¶ 17, 360 Wis. 2d 292, 304 (2015).

Reviewing courts employ a two-step test when assessing whether a circuit court erroneously exercised its sentencing discretion. A defendant must prove that: (1) information was inaccurate and (2) the court actually relied on the inaccurate information at sentencing. *State v. Alexander*, 2015 WI 6, ¶ 18, 360 Wis. 2d 292, 305, 858 N.W.2d 662, 669. In *Harris*, this framework was applied to a contention that a sentencing court had relied on "improper factors," rather than "inaccurate information." *Harris*, 2010 WI at ¶ 66. *Harris* explained that "proving inaccurate information is a threshold question—you cannot show actual reliance on inaccurate information if the information is accurate. When the question relates to other improper factors like race and gender, only the second part of the test, actual reliance, is relevant." *Id*.

A. IMPROPER FACTOR.

The Court in this case cites *State v. Alexander*, holding that the defense has failed to prove judicial reliance on inaccurate information. [R. 45-1]. The Court reasons that the defendant must prove that the information relied upon is in fact inaccurate. [R. 45-1]. However, the defense is not claiming judicial reliance on inaccurate information, but rather improper factors. To prove the information is inaccurate would be to prove an entirely different uncharged case never happened. There are several reasons that the information relied on was

improper. The revocation packet that was improperly used for a gender bias, material in the revocation packet relied upon did not fit into any of the sentencing criteria, and the revocation packet consisted of inadmissible hearsay evidence.

i. Gender.

In this case, this uncharged and unsubstantiated allegation is automatically an improper factor on the basis of gender. Body is asked about his domestic violence history with women. [R. 53-13]. Body is outlandishly asked:

What do you think other men think of someone who slaps a woman around? What do you think I think right now? "[R. 53-10].

Because the court uses the improper factor of gender, the court has actually relied on this improper factor. *Harris*, 2010 WI at ¶ 66.

ii. Sentencing Criteria.

Furthermore, this uncharged and unsubstantiated allegation does not fit into any of the sentencing criteria. When looking for an improper factor, the court must look to see if the defendant was sentenced according to the appropriate sentencing criteria. "When sentencing a defendant, a circuit court should base its sentence on the following factors: (1) the gravity of the offense, (2) the character of the offender, and (3) the need to protect the public. *Alexander*, 2015 WI at ¶ 18.

This uncharged allegation is an improper factor under the gravity of offense criteria because there is no charged offense to consider. This allegation derives from a revocation packet authored by Body's Probation Officer, but was never formally charged. Further, the uncharged allegation comes from an unreliable source. Ms. Mays has withheld information or lied to the police on several occasions, including one known lie about being "swung at" by another man. It is impermissible for a court to consider such allegations when handing down its sentence.

Likewise, this is an improper factor under the character of the offender criteria. Although the Court reviewed and discussed Body's criminal history, its main focus was on this uncharged allegation. The court questioned and made reference to this allegation *on at least four separate occasions* during sentencing. [R. 53-10-22]. The court even admits that it relies on this uncharged allegation when it states, "It is within my right to rely on the information in this [revocation packet] which makes that allegation." [R. 53-16]. Therefore, the court has admitted to relying on uncharged and unsubstantiated claims coming from a woman who has lied to the police about similar claims in the past.

Lastly, this is an improper factor under the need to protect the public criteria. Despite Body's "long involvement with the law" and "persistent involvement with aggressive behavior with women," the Court focuses almost exclusively on this uncharged allegation. [R. 53-10-22]. Uncharged allegations

do not equate to and cannot be relied on as factual background for sentencing purposes. Despite this, the court has relied on these uncharged and unsubstantiated claims from an unreliable source. Accordingly, the court's reliance on this uncharged allegation constitutes an improper factor under the two-step test set forth in *Alexander*.

iii. Hearsay.

Hearsay evidence is allowed in revocation hearings. *Prellwitz v. Schmidt*, 73 Wis.2d 35, 242 N.W.2d 277 (1975). However, hearsay evidence should not be considered for the sentencing of a disorderly conduct charge. Wisconsin Statutes Section 908.03 lists every exception to the hearsay rule, but there is not an exception that allows admittance to these uncharged and unsubstantiated allegations held in the revocation packet. Wis. Stat. § 908.03. Despite hearsay evidence not being allowed, the Court relied on all evidence found in the revocation packet whether it was hearsay or not. [R. 53-10-22]. This hearsay evidence relied upon included the uncharged and unsubstantiated claims found in the revocation packet. [R. 53-10-22].

Because it contains hearsay evidence, the revocation packet should never have been filed with the court. It is unclear how the revocation packet was filed. If the District Attorney had filed it, the defense would have had the opportunity to object. However, there is no notice of its filing. The parole agent could have possibly filed it, but a parole agent is not an officer of the

court and should not have been allowed to file the revocation packet. Somehow, the revocation packet was filed by someone and ended up in the hands of the Court, which relied on the hearsay evidence it contained. The Court acted improperly when it relied upon the hearsay evidence found in the revocation packet.

B. ACTUAL RELIANCE

When assessing whether the sentencing court actually relied on an improper factor, a circuit court "must articulate the basis for the sentence imposed." *Alexander*, 2015 WI at ¶ 20. "We review the circuit court's articulation of its basis for sentencing in the context of the entire sentencing transcript to determine whether the court gave 'explicit attention' to an improper factor, and whether the improper factor 'formed part of the basis for the sentence.' *Id.* Sentencing courts actually rely on an improper factor when the defendant would have been sentenced differently without consideration of and reliance on the improper factor. *Alexander*, 2015 WI at ¶ 27.

The court's stated reasoning for this sentence was based on Body's "long involvement with the law" and "persistent involvement with aggressive behavior with women." [R. 53-16]. However, it is clear that the court gave explicit attention to the uncharged allegation contained in the revocation report because it referred to and questioned Body about it *on at least four separate occasions at sentencing*. [R. 53-10-22]. In fact, the court pays such explicit attention to this allegation that it tries to

compel a confession from Body. The court asks defense counsel, "is he saying he didn't punch her in the head and body with a closed fist? Is this what I'm hearing?" [R. 53-13].

In *Harris*, the defendant asked for relief on his sentence claiming that the court relied on inappropriate, sarcastic, and stereotypical statements that were based on race and gender. *Harris*, 2010 WI at ¶ 1, 21. The statements used in *Harris* included the phrases "baby momma," "you guys," and "these women." *Id.* at ¶ 46. The court held that the defendant did not meet his burden of proof to show that the court relied upon racial or gender based comments. *Id.* at ¶ 4. The court reasoned that the phrases used were popular slang that were not necessarily racially or gender based, and that there was a lack of proof that the court actually relied upon those statements. *Id.* at ¶ 58.

In the case at hand, Body requests a Re-sentencing Hearing or Sentence Modification because the court has relied on improper factors. Unlike *Harris*, the court in this case relied on the clearly improper factors of uncharged and unsubstantiated criminal claims. [R. 53-16; R. 45-2]. Moreover, the court, *by its own admission*, relied on this improper factor as part of the basis for its sentence. "It is within my right to rely on the information in this [revocation packet] which makes that allegation." [R. 53-16]. In case it was not obvious, the court stated that its reliance on improper factors *was obvious* in its Order Denying Post-Conviction Motion, "It is obvious from the

transcript that I was considering the content of the revocation report." [R. 45-2]. Thus, the court actually relied on this improper factor, and as a result, imposed a sentence far more severe than it would have without said reliance. Accordingly, Body is entitled to re-sentencing because the court erroneously exercised its sentencing discretion.

III. THE TRIAL COURT'S IMPOSED SENTENCE WAS UNDULY HARSH BECAUSE IT WAS FOUR TIMES LONGER THAN THE JOINT RECOMMENDATION OF THE STATE AND DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS.

A defendant can seek modification of an imposed sentence in two ways: (1) the sentence is "unduly harsh" or (2) there is a "new factor." *State v. Noll*, 2002 WI App. 273, ¶ 9, 258 Wis.2d 573, 653 N.W.2d 895; *State v. Macemon*, 113 Wis.2d 662, 668, 335 N.W.2d 402 (1983). A sentence is unduly harsh when it is "too severe" or "unconscionable." *Noll*, 2002 WI App. 273, ¶ 9; *Macemon*, 113 Wis.2d at 668. Whether the sentence was unduly harsh is at issue here.

A new factor is present when a "fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties." *Rosado v. State*, 70 Wis.2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69 (1975). Whether there is a new factor present is not at issue.

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