RECEIVED

09-25-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Appeal No. 2019 AP 836 CR

EDWARD L. BODY, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM
KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,
CASE NO. 17 CM 1162
THE HONORABLE BRUCE E. SCHROEDER,
PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

EMILY K. GAERTNER Kenosha County Special Prosecutor State Bar #1117661 Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

Kenosha County District Attorney's Office 912 56th Street Kenosha, WI 53140 (262) 653-2400

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT RELY ON PROPER SENTENCING FACTORS, AND THUS PROPERLY DENY BODY'S MOTION FOR RESENTENCING?

The Trial Court answered: "No."

Appellant argued: "Yes."

Respondent argues: "No."

II. WAS THE SENTENCE IMPOSED UNDULY HARSH?

The Trial Court answered: "No."

Appellant argued: "Yes."

Respondent argues: "No."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT OR PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument. Oral argument is not necessary because "the briefs fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on each side so that oral argument would be of such marginal value that it does not justify the additional expenditure of court time or cost." Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2)(b). Publication is not necessary.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Incident Leading to Underlying Charge:

On August 1, 2017, just after midnight, Kenosha Police Officers Singh and Barbian responded to the 1800 block of 62nd Street, in the City and County of Kenosha, State of Wisconsin, concerning a report of people being loud and arguing in the street. (R. 2-2.) Upon arrival, officers observed a male, later identified as Defendant-Appellant Edward Body, Sr. (hereinafter "Body"), yelling and pacing in the roadway of the 2000 block of 62nd Street. (*Id.*) Many residents in the area were watching the disturbance, both outside and through windows. (*Id.*) Officers heard residents yell to Body to stop yelling. (*Id.*) Specifically, one resident yelled to Body "[h]ey man, the police are here, stop." Body replied "I don't care. [Expletive] the police." (*Id.*)

Near Body was Emily Mays, who explained to officers that she and Body had been arguing about issues they had with their children. (*Id.*) Officers also spoke with a neighbor who said when Body began yelling in the street, the neighbor

told Body to "take the drama elsewhere" because it was creating a disturbance. (*Id.*)

Body was taken into custody for disorderly conduct. (*Id.*) While being taken into custody Body advised to officers he had marijuana in his pocket. (*Id.*) Body was ultimately charged with Disorderly Conduct as a Repeater, and Possession of Tetrahydrocannabinols as a Repeater. (*Id.* at 1.)

Procedural Posture:

On January 11, 2018, Body appeared before the Kenosha County Circuit Court, the Honorable Bruce E. Schroeder presiding, for a plea and sentencing hearing. (R. 51-1.) In exchange for a guilty plea to the Disorderly Conduct, Repeater charge, the State agreed to dismiss the Possession of Tetrahydrocannabinols charge and make no specific recommendation at sentencing. (*Id.* at 2.) Sentencing was withheld and Body was placed on one year probation. (*Id.* at 13.) Rules of supervision included not committing further crimes, not consuming alcohol, and reporting to

Body's probation agent's office when required. (*Id.* at 13; R. 41-2.)

On June 23, 2018, Body visited Mays' residence to see their son. (R. 41-2.) On that day, both Mays and Body were drinking alcohol, and soon began arguing. (Id.) Body spit in Mays' face, and Mays told Body to leave. (Id.) Body punched Mays multiple times in Mays' head and body. (Id.) One of Mays' sons, Gregory, who is only six years old, witnessed the Body hitting May and tried to call 911. (Id.) Body smashed Gregory's phone to stop him from calling for help. (Id.) Mays tried to call 911 from her own phone, which Body then threw across the room. (Id.) Mays was able to retrieve her phone, which still worked, and called 911. (*Id.*) Mays went to the hospital, concerned she may have a broken jaw. (Id.) Mays also reported being bruised over the left side of her face and her arm from the beating. (*Id.*)

Although the procedural posture of Body's brief names one violation for which probation was revoked, Body's Revocation Summary details four violations providing for revocation: Body's probation agent determined Body violated his conditions of probation for (1) "punch[ing] Emily Mays in the head repeatedly", (2) "caus[ing] damage to Gregory [] and Emily Mays['] cell phones", and (3) consuming alcohol. (Body's Br. 5; R. 41-2.) Body committed a fourth violation of probation when he failed to report to his agent's office on June 27, 2018. (R. 41-2.) In the Revocation Summary, Body's agent noted that "[a]lthough [Body] denies any assaultive behavior in this incident with [Mays], it is difficult to believe this based on his prior record as well as the photos/report of what occurred that evening." (R. 41-3.) Body was "assessed to be a high (10) risk for violent recidivism." (Id.)

Body received and reviewed the contents of the Revocation Summary, waived his revocation hearing, and thus waived his opportunity to challenge the contents of the Revocation Summary. (R. 52-2-4; 53-5.)

On August 21, 2018, Body appeared before Judge Schroeder for a sentencing after revocation hearing. (R. 52-1.)

At that hearing, the court inquired as to Body's criminal history. The State indicated Body's prior convictions included "priors for carrying [a] concealed weapon ... multiple disorderly conducts, threat to injure, intimidation of a victim, dissuade reporting, batteries that include domestic violence, obstructing, criminal damage to property, [and] substantial battery." (*Id.* at 6.) The court "interrupted the district attorney because [the court] had already heard as much as [it] needed to," and adjourned the hearing so the court could "take a look in-depth at what [Body's] history is" in terms of domestic violence. (*Id.* at 7.)

On August 30, 2018, Body again appeared before Judge Schroeder for the adjourned sentencing hearing after revocation. (R. 53-1.) The court reported that Body "seems to have interpersonal relationship problems with women and police officers." (*Id.* at 7.) The court then listed a number of incidents in Body's record, including "grabbing [Mays'] shirt, push[ing] her against the wall in front of the children, t[aking] her phone away, refus[ing] to give it back," "damag[ing] her

car," "slap[ing] [Mays] in the face . . . push[ing] her into a door, push[ing] her into the wall, follow[ing] her, punch[ing] her in the mouth two more times," "grabb[ing] her by the arms and thr[owing] her to the ground in the kitchen [and] spit[ting] on her face," and being "difficult with police officers," often times challenging them and swearing at them. (*Id.* at 6-9.)

The court questioned Body as to "what ... other men think of someone who slaps women around," where Body's children live, what those children's home lives are like, and whether Body "think[s] it's a father's responsibility to set a good example for his children." (*Id.* at 10-12.) The court questioned "how long that memory going to last in your sixyear-old's life?" referring to six-year-old Gregory's witnessing Body hitting Mays, Gregory's attempting to call 911 to help his mother, and Body smashing Gregory's phone. (*Id.* at 13-14.)

The court ultimately sentenced Body to one year in jail. (Id. at 15.) Body erupted "[t]his is [expletive]" and "I

didn't do anything." (Id. at 18.) Body moved for resentencing, which was denied. (R. 43; 45-2.)

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

Dismissed motions for sentencing modification are reviewed on appeal by determining whether "the sentencing court erroneously exercised its discretion." *State v. Noll*, 2002 WI App. 273, ¶ 4, 258 Wis.2d 573, 653 N.W.2d 895. Cases concerning the application of Wis. Stat. § 973.19 present a question of law reviewed without deference to the trial court. *Id*.

I. THE SENTENCING COURT PROPERLY RELIED UPON THOSE FACTORS IT MUST CONSIDER WHEN SENTENCING BODY.

The sentencing court did not consider gender when imposing Body's sentence, and properly sentenced Body according to the appropriate sentencing criteria and relevant hearsay evidence, as permitted by statute and case law.

In exercising discretion, sentencing courts "must individualize the sentence to the defendant based on the facts of the case by identifying the most relevant factors and explaining how the sentence imposed furthers the sentencing objectives." *State v. Harris*, 2010 WI 79, ¶ 29, 326 Wis.2d

685, 786 N.W.2d 409 (citing State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 39-48, 270 Wis.2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197). Whenever making a sentencing determination, such factors a sentencing court "must consider [are] the protection of the public, the gravity of the offense, and the rehabilitative needs of the defendant, as well as any appropriate mitigating or aggravating factors," Wis. Stat. § 973.17(2) (emphasis added). Case law has identified "various additional factors that a circuit court might consider within its [sentencing] discretion," including the defendant's "past record of criminal offenses; history of undesirable behavior pattern; ... personality, character and social traits; [and] remorse, repentance and cooperativeness." State v. Gayton, 2016 WI 58, ¶ 22, 370 Wis.2d 264, 882 N.W.2d 459, cert. denied, 137 S. Ct. 1331 (U.S. Mar. 20, 2017) (No. 16-6926).

A variety of factors must be considered by the sentencing court because that court "has a responsibility to acquire full knowledge of the character and behavior pattern of the convicted defendant before imposing sentence." *Id.* at

¶ 23, (citing *Elias v. State*, 93 Wis.2d 278, 285, 286 N.W.2d 559 (1980)). When the same circuit court judge presides at both the original sentencing and the sentencing after revocation of probation, "the appellate court considers the original sentencing reasons to be implicitly adopted." *State v. Haynes*, 2016 WI App. 75, ¶ 12, 371 Wis.2d 760, 886 N.W. 2d 593.

"Any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for the particular defendant" is permitted to be considered by the sentencing court. *Gayton*, 2016 WI at ¶ 23 (citing *State v. Guzman*, 166 Wis.2d 577, 591, 480 N.W.2d 446 (1992)). This includes "uncharged and unproven offenses," as directly held in *Grant v. State.* 73 Wis.2d 441, 243 N.W.2d 186 (1976); *see Gayton*, 2016 WI at ¶ 23. The Wisconsin Supreme Court explained uncharged and unproven offenses may be considered at sentencing because these offenses are "evidence of a pattern of behavior which, in turn, is an index of the defendant's character, a critical factor in sentencing." *Elias*, 93 Wis.2d at 284.

Body argues the sentencing court relied on improper factors when exercising its sentencing discretion. Specifically, Body argues one improper factor was considered, that being Body's gender, and makes further argument that information considered by the sentencing court from the revocation report should not have been considered because it "did not fit into any of the sentencing criteria", and contained "inadmissible hearsay evidence." (Body's Br. 9-10.)

A. The sentencing court did not rely upon Body's gender as a factor at sentencing.

It is indisputable that gender is an improper factor to consider in imposing sentence, and imposing a sentence on the basis of gender is therefore an erroneous exercise of discretion. *See Harris*, 2010 WI at ¶ 66. A defendant must show by clear and convincing evidence that a sentencing court relied upon a defendant's gender to be successful on such a claim. *Id.* at ¶ 34.

Body alleges the trial court improperly relied on the factor of gender, citing two of many questions the court posed

to Body at the sentencing after revocation hearing on August 30, 2018. (Body Br. 10.) It is true the trial court questioned Body as to "[w]hat [Body] think[s] other men think of *someone* who slaps women around?" (emphasis added). The trial court followed that question up with "What do you (Body) think I (the court) think right now?" The trial court never stated the question as what men think of other men who abuse women. Instead, the court's question focused on the gender of the victim, rather than the gender of the abuser.

This case is analogous in this respect to *State v*. *Harris*. In *Harris*, the sentencing court used phrases like "you guys", "these women", and "baby mama" when it articulated it "frequen[tly] ... sees unemployed and uneducated fathers come into court with mothers working full-time and going to school." *Id.* at ¶ 53. Harris argued on appeal these phrases evidenced an improper reliance on Harris's race at sentencing. *Id.* at ¶ 46. The appellate court found that these phrases taken in context did not implicate race, instead, that the sentencing court was "observing a

common scenario, a reality the [sentencing] court found maddening, and not without reason" and that those "observations bear a reasonable nexus to the relevant factors, including Harris's character, education, employment, and need for close rehabilitative control." *Id.* at ¶ 53, 59.

The sentencing court in this case did not consider Body's gender as a factor in sentencing. Similar to *Harris*, the sentencing court in this case articulated disfavor for, what it considered, the frequency in which children observe or are even victims themselves of domestic abuse. Like in *Harris*, this exchange was part of a larger colloquy, where the court explored the history of abuse between Body and his partners, the number of children Body has, his involvement with those children, and that abuse affecting or even being witnessed by Body's young children. These facts fit squarely within the permissible sentencing factors of the defendant's past record of criminal offenses, his history of undesirable behavior pattern, and his personality, character and social traits. Mere

reference to gender while relying on proper factors is not reliance on an improper factor.

B. The reasons for revocation, along with other facts of record, were properly considered at sentencing as they fall under numerous sentencing criteria the court must consider.

Body alleges the violations leading to revocation do not fit into any of the sentencing criteria: Body argues the "uncharged allegations" were improperly considered under gravity of the offense because there is "no charged offense to consider", improperly considered under character of the defendant because the allegations were the trial court's "main focus', and improperly considered under need to protect the public because the trial court "focus[ed] almost exclusively" on the allegations in the revocation report, and that those allegations "do not equate and cannot be relied on as factual background for sentencing purposes." (Body Br. 11-12.)

Body's arguments are flawed and selective. First, as mentioned previously, uncharged and unproven offenses may be considered by a sentencing court. *State v. Leitner*, 253

Wis.2d 449, 474, 646 N.W.2d 341 (2002) (citing *Elias*, 93 Wis.2d at 284). Uncharged and unproven offenses are considered so often at sentencing, and upheld on appeal, that this argument needs little response. That the battery allegations contained in the revocation report did not manifest into independent charges is of absolutely no importance, as acknowledged by the sentencing court. A history of case law speaks for itself.¹

Second, the material in the revocation report fit within a number of factors a sentencing court *must* consider when imposing a sentencing. The allegations Mays made against Body directly relate to the character of the defendant and his

_

¹ See State v. Mosley, 201 Wis.2d 36, 547 N.W.2d 806 (1996) (uncharged and unproven allegations considered by a sentencing court as to whether crime charged was "an isolated act or a pattern of conduct"); State v. McQuay, 154 Wis.2d 116, 126, 452 N.W.2d 377, 381 (1990) (sentencing court may evaluate a defendant's character in light of evidence of unproven offenses); Elias, 93 Wis.2d at 284 (1980) (explicitly holding that a sentencing court may consider uncharged and unproven offenses, "since those other offenses are evidence of a pattern of behavior which is an index of the defendant's character, a critical factor in sentencing,"); see Grant v. State, 73 Wis.2d 441, 243 N.W.2d 186 (1976) (directly holding the trial court was proper in considering uncharged and unproven offenses at sentencing).

history of exhibiting an undesirable behavior pattern, as well as his personality, character and social traits.

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